Mama goes for a ride.

The jail two counties over had two guys escape last Saturday. They had been in jail for what started as a residential burglary. They had broken into a 71 year old man's house. He came home and walked in on them and they tied him up and finished pillaging his house. They were caught and as is the custom, they were incarcerated in the county jail until their trial came up. A new sheriff just took office over there and somebody let them out into an exercise yard when they shouldn't have. They went over a fence and through some razor wire. By the time they were discovered missing they had already stolen a truck and gone to Louisiana. While in Louisiana they stole another truck and came here. The original arresting agency received word that they might be in our area. I found the truck.

It was located in a not so nice neighborhood. I couldn't hang around in a marked car without scaring them off so after spotting the truck we called out one of the metro guys to watch the place until we could get a catch team set up. It was taking a few minutes and I was sent to answer a domestic violence call. This gave me a bad case of the reds but there was nobody else available to catch the call. Besides that, it was 12 miles away. While watching the house some dumbass came up to the metro guy and sold him a couple of crack rocks.

As I pulled up on the domestic call I could hear them yelling at each other. It had taken me a few minutes to get there and what once had been physical had simmered down to screaming and name calling. As I walked in the house I heard Deputy David radio he was in pursuit of the truck. They had moved before we could get set up. You could tell he was excited and could hear the siren over the walkie-talkie. I told the domestics to sit down and shut up and I would listen to them after I made a few phone calls. I knew dispatch was busy with the chase so I called nearby agencies and told them what was going on in case the chase went to them. The domestics were now interested in the chase being broadcast over my radio and were no longer yelling at each other. They were even talking about it to each other. 

The chase ended with the pickup running out of road. I took the 18 year old unwed mother and her 3 year old child and several bags of clothes down the road to her mother's house. I then went to the office to see if I could help with the escapees. In the middle of all this my daughter, who is a brand new reporter with the local rag, called and wanted to know if I'd heard anything about the escapees. I told her to go to the office and bring her camera. She was happy for the scoop and it should be somewhere in the www.hattiesburgamerican.com. in the morning.

I got to the office and got to meet the offenders. I still had the reds because I wasn't there, but I'll get over it, I always do. The escapees had shaven their heads and gotten some clothes (not the best ones) while in Louisiana. They were skinny and severely dentally impaired. Look up stupid in the dictionery and one or both of these guy's pictures should be there. The race lasted about 15 miles. The ran out of road at a "T" intersection that was already a notorious drunk trap. They were banged up just enough to be caught easily but were not hurt bad. The driver's mother had been in the truck with them when they wrecked. When I first saw her I thought she was a man until I saw a couple of knots under her sweater. She was rough. Tatoos,no teeth,her own personal crack pipe. She also has some brand new criminal charges. We got them processed and let the other county take them back. We'll add our charges later. As they were leaving the metro guy came in with the crack salesman. At least Mama got to have a night out with her son.

“Casper” has passed away.

I was on I65 between Montgomery and Mobile Saturday morning when I received a call from my friend Leland. Leland was driving past the stilt trailer near the creek on his way to get a paper to go with his coffee when he noticed a patrol car,a hearse, and the coroner's jeep parked in front of the stilt trailer. The trailer is on stilts because the owner jacked it up after the last flood rather than move it away. I passed by there a few nights ago and they still had their Christmas lights on. I suspected Casper's elderly mother had passed on but found out yesterday that it was Casper who had died.

Casper is not his real name. It was a nickname given to him almost at birth because Casper was an albino. At the time of his death he was in his late 40's, even though he looked much older than that. Until recently Casper had always lived in an old school bus at one place or another. He has never worked anywhere, even though I occasionally saw him picking up aluminum cans, and has always lived on a meager SSI checked because of the steel plate in his head that he got from doing something stupid as a younger man. I don't know for sure, but I have always been told he came in second in a head butting contest. I don't think he would have worked anywhere without the plate in his head. It just never ran in his family.

Casper was married for a few years. His wife left him for a guy I found camping in the woods who was wanted in Arkansas. She works down at Camela's old run down store and I frequently see her writing letters to her inmate boyfriend. They never had any children. Casper was heartbroken when his ex told him she was in love with someone else. He's never had a car that I know of. Probably becuase he couldn't get a drivers license because of the seizures. Somebody gave him an old riding lawnmower a couple of years ago and instead of using it to make a little money he just used it to ride around Brooklyn. He used it mostly to go to the store where his ex worked to buy beer and cigarettes. He always bought one of those cheap quart size cans and by the time he got home it would be empty and he would turn around and go back and get another. Needless to say, at the end of a day Casper would be pretty drunk. I saw him get his mower stuck in a ditch on the side of the road more than once. He was frequently warned about this until a couple of months ago he ran across the road on his mower in front of one of the other deputies. The DUI charge was still pending at the time of his death.

Before moving back into the stilt trailer Casper lived in an old bus over behind the junkyard. He kept an eye on things over there until the owner decided he wanted to clean the place up some. Casper moved his bus to the stilt trailer. There wasn't enough room for the bus there without some of it sticking out in the road and after a few days he was forced to move the bus again. This time he sold the bus to a scrapyard, along with an extensive beer can collection, and moved upstairs with his mother and his tongue tied cousin.

Casper enjoyed the local football games. He would sober up enough to get in after he had gone around outside the stadium bumming money for a ticket. Sometimes some of the students would give him money to watch him bang his steel plate against a tree or other hard object. Casper liked to show he had the hardest head around and he could always use the money. In the last several years I have found Casper passed out drunk. If it was cold I would take him to wherever his bus was and if it wasn't I'd simply drag him to safety if he was too close to the road.

The coroner lives just down the road from me. I saw him today and asked him what happened to Casper. He said he wouldn't know until after the autopsy but there were over 30 empty beer cans in his immediate vicinity. He told me Casper was found face up in a pool of vomit and he may have drowned. He might have died from a broken heart also. I'm sure gonna miss seeing Casper around.

Train Ride To McDonald's (and rehab)

I am off this weekend and we decided to take my small grandaughters on a short train ride. Myself, son, daughter, and two granddaughters were to ride on the train from Hattiesburg to Laurel while my son-in-law drove my van up there to pick us up. When we started planning the trip I told my oldest grandaughter we were going to McDonald's for lunch when we got there. She talked all week about riding the train to McDonald's.

About a block from the Amtrak station I saw her dragging a large beat up suitcase and two garbage bags full of clothes. It was probably everything she owned. I recognized her as one of the local crack heads. I didn't know where she was going until she showed up where we were waiting for the train. I didn't talk to her at the time as we were taking turns keeping up with the two and a half and four year old grandaughters. My son-in-law left a few minutes before the train got there in my van so he could meet us at the station in Laurel when we got there. I asked my oldest grandaughter if she knew where Daddy was and she told me he was going to be driving the train. I don't know how she came to this conclusion but I didn't tell her any different.

After we boarded the train we could only find four seats together and there were five of us. I moved a few rows up and found a seat. The crack head took the seat across the aisle from me with her load of stuff. She saw me checking the time on my cell phone and asked me if she could make a call on it. At this time I noticed she was a little tongue tied and slightly cross-eyed. She later told me she was 30 years old. Her call didn't last long and as she handed the phone to me she told me she was going to rehab. I knew the place she was talking about so I didn't ask her about it. She told me she was able to come up with $8.00 for a train ticket and that she was now broke. She asked me if I would buy her a cup of coffee. As I talked with her (grandaughters running back and forth between me and their mother the whole time) she told me that she had been using all kinds of drugs (mostly crack) and she hoped the rehab could help her. She said she was scared she was going to die if she couldn't get away from the stuff. She did most of the talking, mostly small talk. I didn't asked about her. I already knew. I see them every day. The stories are all the same. She still didn't know who I was. I guess she didn't remember me from the last time she was in jail.

As the train pulled into the Laurel station she asked me if I had a ride waiting. I explained the son-in-law and the van and she asked if I would give her a ride over to the ER at the local hospital. She had to go through there first before they sent her over to rehab. She said it was too far to walk with all her stuff and it was still cold. I didn't have any seats left in the van and told her she could ride in the back on the floor and she said that was fine. It didn't surprise any of the kids that I was giving her a ride. They knew what she was and why I was doing it. Had she walked the distance to the ER she might have changed her mind.

When we got to the hospital I helped her with her stuff and walked inside with her. When she told the lady at the desk why she was there it seemed to agitate her. The desk lady was short and rude to the crack head. I gave her $5.00 and wished her luck. I never did tell her who I was.

We left the ER and went to McDonald's. As I was ordering Happy Meals a guy came up behind me wanting to know where his food was. He was red-eyed,skinny, and smelled bad. He looked to have been up for days. The cashier told him he hadn't ordered anything yet. He ordered something and as he paid the cashier I noticed his money was as dirty as he was. I started to tell him I knew where he could get some free food but I figured he wasn't ready for it and already knew where the place was anyway.

We ate and left headed back home. My oldest grandaughter was singing little songs she had learned at day care and talking about the train ride to McDonald's. As she got out at their house she had to tell me one more time..."and Daddy drove the train!"

It's Been Kinda Quiet...Until tonight.

I went back on nights last week. I had some time built up and I took it off last weekend to go to Louisville for the Jag and National Gun Day. I went back on my regular shift Wed. night. It was pretty quiet and I was thankful because I was still in the being off mode. Things picked up tonight.

I had barely gotten to the office when I got a juvenile call. It was an older black lady who was trying to raise four teenagers whose parents were relatives from Chicago who could not raise them for various reasons. Crack cocaine was mentioned. She's had the kids for over ten years and now that they are in their teens they don't appreciate what she's been doing for them and are giving her hell. I've been here before. We don't get much help from the social services in cases like this. She wanted me to talk to them. They ranged in age from 11 to 14. I got them all in the living room and told her to go outside. I explained to them what ungrateful little punks they were and went into detail about what kind of life they would would be living if they were still where they came from. I heard a few "my momma saids" and told them if their momma cared anything about them she would have raised them and that they better be glad that somebody cared enough about them to try to do something for their sorry disrespectful, unappreciative little asses and that if I had to come back out there I was going to make their life miserable. Two of them started crying and one stuttered anyway and I couldn't really understand him, but I seemed to have gotten my point across for the time being. I'm sure I'll have to go back.

Calls were starting to stack and the next one I got was from a young lady who was complaining that someone had shot her dog. I immediately pictured a pit bull harrassing a neighbor but found something totally different when I got there. She was a single parent who lived in a trailer with another single parent. They lived on five acres that was totally fenced in. The dog in question was a miniature Schnauzer. she had let the dog go outside and someone shot it with a pellet rifle. The dog was enclosed by the fence on the young lady's property and wasn't bothering anyone. It was apparently shot for no reason at all. This pissed me off. The girls had toddlers who also used this area. They called me after they had taken the dog to the veterinarian. The bill was already at $600 and climbing and the little dog probably won't live. I canvassed the neighborhood and was unable to find anyone who had seen anything. I had to leave and go answer another dog call. I'll come back to this one.

The caller was using a cell phone to tell dispatch she couldn't get back in her house. Some mix breed shit eater had her bayed and he was between her and the front door. She had a female dog in heat in a pen and he had apparently claimed it and was barking and growling at her. When I got there he came after me and the caller ran in the house. I loaded him down with pepper spray. This usually works but only seemed to irritate him. The dog was vicious but fairly intelligent because he ran off when I racked my 870. I followed him thinking I might follow him home and get his sorry ass owners to lock him up so I wouldn't have to shoot him. I got about a half mile when I had a flat on the patrol car. I was pretty far from town so I had to change it myself. Just as I had finished the caller's husband stopped and asked me about the dog. He had gotten off work early to come see about the dog situation. I told him that I had tried to follow the dog until I had the flat and the dog was probably back at his house. I followed the man home and the dog was back and barked and growled at us. The man thanked me for helping his wife and asked what he could do about the dog. I told him to use the quietest caliber he had and to haul the dog off at least ten miles. I didn't want to hear somebody bitching about their vicious dog getting shot because they were too damn lazy to keep it restrained. I left and didn't hear any more about this.

It was not a good night for Ranger pickups. A drunken 18 year old ran off the road at a high rate of speed in his and and hit an embankment and a few trees. The truck was scattered everywhere, There wasn't much left of it. The rear axle was even knocked out of it and was lying about 100 feet from the wreck. Beer bottles were scattered everywhere. The kid tried to walk off but the alcohol and injuries kept him from going too far. I later found out he had a broken neck but would probably survive. 

Rob's girlfriend left him last Sunday. He didn't like this. He called her tonight and told her he was coming to kill her. He must have been in too big of a hurry. While we were going to the girlfriend's house Rob ran off the road and hit some large trees in his Ranger. He was dead when we got there. Billy had heard about Rob's accident and his morbid curiousity got the best of him. On the way over to Rob's accident Billy ran into a deer and fubared his Ranger. I tried to get Jr. to come pick up the deer but he was already in bed.

A Beautiful Day In The Neighborhood.

It’s been kind of interesting around here today. I went outside this morning and noticed two patrol cars driven by my co- workers in the driveway of my neighbor, who lives just down the road. There’s really nothing unusual about this as my neighbor, Dr. E, who’s not really a doctor at all, and his girlfriend, who is the grandmother of his daughter, sometimes have friendly disagreements that involve lots of yelling and screaming and broken glass. I am almost used to this and prefer not to get involved when I’m off duty, as I am today. I mentioned this unusual living arrangement a while back. Dr. E’s girlfriend, the mother of his child and a very attractive woman, left Dr. E. a while back and moved some guy into her new trailer so she could have someone new to fight with, and she has done so successfully. I was invited to their automobile glass breaking marathon several months ago. But that’s another story. Anyway, Dr. E decided to move the now ex-girlfriends mother in to retaliate and she’s just kind of hung around ever since. He once told me “she won’t be able to top this!” when telling me about his then new roommate. He was right.

I told Jr. the neighbors had company and as soon as the patrol cars left he couldn’t wait to go down there and find out what was going on. It wasn’t anything very serious this time. I wasn’t surprised because I thought that they were in love this week. He had told just yesterday that he had taken her fishing and that he had shot two very large catfish. I didn’t ask for details. Jr. came back and told me they were looking for Roger, who had spent the night because he was too drunk to drive home. It seems that someone wanted Roger’s daughter’s car removed from their property and the deputies were trying to save her a tow bill. The first deputy was amazed at the size of the catfish and had called the second deputy to look at them. I haven’t talked to them so I don’t know if they noticed they were shot. The reason Roger’s daughter couldn’t move her own car is she’s been in jail the next county over for the last several weeks on a probation violation involving some controlled substances. Roger’s not like that though. I don’t know where he finds it but he still drinks Pabst Blue Ribbon beer, and lots of it. I found out later that Roger’s daughter now has an ex-boyfriend. “She didn’t need him if he don’t want to wait for her to get out” was Roger’s comment about the situation. Roger went and got the car and I guess everybody is happy.

I decided to work in the yard today. I was going to go to the gun show in Kenner, La. but decided at the last minute that I really didn’t need anything right now. I started off by putting out ant poison. I had a very large fire ant bed around an azalea bush that I had planted out by the road and it had really been bothering me since I first saw it. Today was the first chance I had to do something about it. As I approached the ant bed I noticed what appeared to be someone’s personal property stacked beside the end of the drive near the road. My across the road neighbor Randy had recently split with his wife of fourteen years after she ran off with a guy a lot younger than her. I saw her a couple of weeks ago and she had lost a lot of weight since I last saw her. Randy found him a brand new girlfriend a couple of weeks later and moved her and two of her kids into his camper trailer. She’s been over there for a couple of months. Randy and his former wife were living in the camper while they were building a house on their twenty acres. Maybe the crowded conditions caused some problems with both of the women.

The stuff at the end of the drive didn’t surprise me because I had seen Randy’s new girlfriend “Cat” at her new job at the local stop and rob which is called “The Kangaroo.” 
She told me a couple of weeks ago that she wasn’t happy and was planning on moving out soon. She went into detail about why she wasn’t happy with him, which is too boring to share here. I guess I just look like someone you can share personal problems with because for some reason I get more than my share of people stopping by to do just that. I had poisoned the ants and was starting to fertilize some trees when R. G. pulled in to my driveway. He was driving an old beat up Chevy truck with a large number “8” on each door. There was an old guy riding with R.G. that I didn’t know who also had a large number “8” on his cap. R.G. was there to pick up Cat’s stuff. R.G. said he stopped by my house because he didn’t want any trouble with Randy about picking up the stuff.

I have known R.G. for quite some time and even officiated when he broke up with his last wife. R.G. has worked the night shift at an envelope plant for over twenty years and hauls scrap iron and deals in junk cars during the day. He’s pot bellied, has long hair, and for some reason his face is always broken out. R.G.’s ex had called and wanted to meet a deputy at the Kangaroo a while back to go to his house to get some more of her stuff. They sent me. She showed me a worn out court order that I knew had been acted on at least three times and I told her I wasn’t going to go with her to his house while he wasn’t there. She said she was going to call her lawyer. I told her while she had him on the phone to tell him I had a warrant on her, which I did. She put the lawyer on the phone and he started threatening me with contempt of court if I didn’t take her over to the house and let her get more stuff. I told him the order had already been acted on, that I would do nothing further unless I got a new order, and that he really needed to find her someone to bond her out of jail. He said he was going to file contempt charges on me. I congratulated him for his recent re-instatement to the bar (he raided someone’s trust account awhile back and apparently was just getting his practice re-started) and told him to do what he needed to do. I never heard from him. R.G. and his wife got their divorce and he married a sixteen year old not long after my encounter with his now ex-wife. R.G. is in his 40’s. The sixteen year old used to live with her Uncle Casper who drowned in his own vomit not long ago. 

I asked R.G. how he got to be the lucky guy to come get the stuff and he said his wife worked with Cat and she didn’t know anybody else with a truck. I figured Randy wanted the stuff gone or he wouldn’t have stacked it out by the road. I called him just to be sure. I had seen him leave earlier that morning on his Harley and when he answered he was at some kind of Harley gathering in Louisiana. I told him someone was there for the stuff and asked if it would be all right to pick it up. He said that would be fine, just don’t let anybody go up to the camper. As R.G. was picking the stuff up I got a call from Cat. She went into detail about how Randy had left her in a bar last night and that when she came home and saw the stuff she was too scared to go to the camper so she went and got a motel room. I told her she did the right thing. She thanked me for supervising the retrieval of her property and promised to buy me a six-pack. 

I was getting ready to go to Walmart when another neighbor (Dr. E’s brother Andy) stopped by and wanted to borrow $20.00. His scrapping partner, Fast Eddie, had taken last week’s scrapping (hauling junk cars and scrap metal) proceeds and gone to a crack house in Wiggins. I had warned him about Fast Eddie a couple of weeks ago. He had gotten caught smoking crack on a drilling rig in the Gulf a few weeks ago and gotten himself fired from a job he’d had since he got out of prison seven years ago. I gave him the $20.00. I’m writing this in the dark and will not answer the door or the phone until tomorrow.

Chasing a Crackhead

The last several days have been interesting. For the last three months we've been busy taking reports on at least 40 thefts. Nearby counties have had the same problem. Taken were items small enough to be loaded into a pickup by one person. In most cases homeowners would leave their property exposed in their yard or in their carport/garage. In these cases the crackhead would simply come by and help himself. In a few cases storage sheds were burgled. The stolen merchandise included lawnmowers,Katrina chainsaws and generators, air compressors, power tools, weed trimmers, and fishing gear. 

These guys don't take this stuff to a pawn shop much anymore. They've learned it's too easy to get caught this way. We've been trying to clear these thefts for the last several weeks. So far checking the pawn shops produced nothing. The stolen items were apparently being traded for crack or sold on the street. Until last Thursday we had no witnesses. It was then that someone finally got a description of a suspect and a vehicle. The witness said he saw a blond headed guy in a little red truck in the area of one of the thefts and that the guy actually waved at him as he drove by. Fishing gear was stolen on this one.

Deputy Tory took the report and made sure all the local agencies had a description of the suspect and vehicle. We still couldn't place the guy. All we could do for the time being was patrol the affected areas heavier and watch the areas where crack selling was suspected. This paid off. Friday night while my shift was off, Deputy John caught a guy fitting the description coming out of a neighborhood known as the "Goula" by the locals. We always called it the "Bottoms" because of it's closeness to the river. It's one of those places that decayed a long time ago. OK, it's the "Hood."

Deputy John knew he probably had the right guy but he only had a misdemeanor license charge on him. The suspect, whom I will call "Jimmy," was on probation with DOC for previous thefts. Naturally the guy wouldn't talk and Deputy John put him in jail and hoped we could hold him until we got some proof or he failed a drug test. It would be Tuesday before he could get tested (don't ask why) and he could bond on the misdemeanor before that.

Jimmy messed up. He had been pretty slick up until now about how he got rid of the stolen stuff. Just as he was getting ready to bond out on the misdemeanor I found a stolen miter saw he had pawned. Out of hundreds of items stolen, this was the only item found in a pawn shop. It had been pawned 20 minutes after it was discovered stolen. I guess he really needed some crack that morning. I called the jail and placed a hold on Jimmy.

Jimmy's future looks bleak. 85 percent of the ten year sentence he was on probation for will now have to be served. This should help with his crack problem. Investigators are with him now and will offer him no new charges if he helps recover the stolen property. I won't have to deal with him anymore because he'll still be in prison when I retire. I'm sure it won't be long when we get to do this again with another crackhead.

Didn't Get My Nap In.

Say what you want to, but if you've ever worked 12 hour shifts on the night shift you'll know what I mean. Usually sometime between midnight and 2 a.m. my brain tells me to pull over and close my eyes for a few minutes. If I do this I feel rested and alert enough to finish the rest of the shift without falling asleep while driving and running off the road. It doesn't make any difference how much sleep you got before you came to work, sometime after midnight you're gonna get the nods.

I didn't have time for that last night. As I mentioned earlier on another thread we had a pretty good storm blow through here and a few other interesting things that pretty much kept me busy and awake. The storm blew down a few dead Katrina trees (killed by the hurricane but not yet fallen) and caused several road blockages and a couple of minor accidents. As the skies cleared the robberies started. The first was at a favored stop and rob. As we joined the local PD looking for a suspect another occurred just across the river in another police jurisdiction. In both robberies the suspect was described very similar. Skinny white dude wearing a gray hoodie. We're still looking for him. Got some good video showing the hoodie but no face. No vehicle descriptions either.

Then the fights started. I got the first one. It was in a trailer park. It was over when I got there. I found the two part time roofers lying in the mud covered in blood. I never did get the full story. They were drunk and were hugging each other and saying how much they loved each other as one of them's significant other was packing her rustbucket to leave. They claimed to have been injured by trying to catch each other as they fell out the door of the trailer. They continued with the "I love you man" stuff as I talked with them. It ain't against the law to be drunk in a trailer park and I didn't see the fight so as I was getting ready to leave I told them "I'm gonna leave before you two lovebirds start fornicating, but if I have to come back somebody's going to jail." They promised they'd be nice and I didn't hear anymore out of them tonight.

We backed the PD on a cutting call. The cutter was a black woman in a purple Marquis with 20" spinners. We found her real quick. The caller said she cut a man in the parking lot of a stop and rob. She had a bloody butcher knife lying on the passenger seat of the car. Problem was we couldn't find the cuttee. He ran off leaving a trail of blood and we still hadn't found him when I got off. He'll show up if he's hurt bad enough.


I kept trying to talk to Deputy David on the phone about a possible future fishing trip but he kept getting interupted by some guy harrassing his sister. The bars were letting out and I had to hang up because I rode up on two guys fighting in the street in front of the post office. Deputy John backed me and we gave them a place to sleep for the night. I managed to make a comment or two on the forum as I was leaving the jail.

As I was leaving the office we had a good ole redneck brawl at the Corner Bar. The caller said knives were involved. I was ten miles away so most of it was over when I got there. On arrival we found two skanks who had the snot beat out of them. They had used a bad victim selection process and the intended victim had "peeled" both heads. One of them had fled the scene and was found down the road with a window busted out of his truck. The other was sitting in a junky 4WD truck that you couldn't see for the fresh mud. (don't know what that was about) The intended victim was asked about the knife. He said it "warn't no problem cause I told him if he got any closer with it I was going to rip his ass out with it." I guess he beleived him. The intended victim was covered with blood, but none of it was his. The two morons who came in second in the fight are frequent fliers and had been bullying folks at the bar for some time. The winner said his attackers never got a lick in but he had a little headache where the barmaid hit him with a bottle. Nobody wanted to press charges.

We then got a call about some idiot running north in the southbound lane but he ran off the road and hit a tree before we got to him. Full moon tomorrow night.

Cinco De Mayo

The Mexicans have been kind of lively around here for the past few days. DUI's and fights are up in the areas they inhabit. I guess the best is yet to come. It seems they are warming up for Cinco De Mayo. We had several calls on them last night for disturbances and loud music. One reported with gunfire but if they had one it was gone when we got there. That's unusual around here. I've only seen one or two guns taken from Mexicans out of the hundreds that are here. It's obviously different in other parts of the country. You only have to tell them once to quit the noise. I have never had to go back a second time.

I stopped one about 2330 last night. The guy was super drunk. Hell, he had to drive because he couldn't walk. No insurance either. Never is. He had bricklaying tools in the back of the truck. The registration of the truck was a mystery. At least it didn't show to be stolen. One of the DUI guys came and got him and I waited on the wrecker. He had a sober passenger named Abel, as in Cain and Abel. Abel told me he asked him not to drive but Alberto insisted on it. I talked to Abel while I waited the 30 minutes for the wrecker. He has been here three years and speaks very good English. He told me he "got a book" as soon as he got here so he could learn to speak our language. He said he's working on his citizenship because he wants his kids to grow up here. It's getting too violent in Mexico for him. He hangs and finishes sheetrock. When he works he makes $12.00 an hour. Much more than he could make at home. He hasn't worked in two weeks after three years of non stop jobs. The economy may be solving the immigration problem.

I asked Abel how hard it was to get up here. He told me that when he first came he had to work a month for nothing in Mexico busting rocks in a quarry. Abel said several guys died there. They didn't even furnish food or water. After a month of free labor they snuck him across the border. Abel said he had been home twice since he got here and he had the money to pay the $1,000 it cost to come back across the border. He paid that to stay out of the quarry. Abel is an illegal but unless he's charged with a felony the Feds won't come get him. I think DUI should be added to that because these guys don't drive very well sober, much less drunk. Lots of Mexicans and local folks have been killed here because of drunken Mexican drivers. The wrecker came and got the truck and I took Abel back to the trailer he had been staying in...the same one I had been to earlier.

We've had a lot of illegals killed here for various reasons, usually car wrecks or murders. I sometimes wonder how many of them we send home in a bag each year. We had another one killed in a car wreck two days ago. No seat belt of course. I helped with traffic but the wreck was worked by a trooper because it was on a highway instead of a county road. The trooper told me he had to fill out a bunch of paperwork so the deceased could get a $2,000 payment to have him embalmed and shipped back to Mexico. I asked the trooper where the money came from and he told me some federal agency. I had never heard this before. I wonder what that adds up to?

Long Weekend.

It was one of the busiest I've ever worked. I don't have time or room to write about everything that happened so I'll just tell about some of the more interesting stuff. It started Friday afternoon with dispatch calling my house just as I was getting out of the shower wanting to know if I was available for a call yet. The shift we were relieving was backed up and dispatch was trying to cover calls.

Most of the calls involved squabbles over child custody. Basically one of the parents (if you want to call them that) would take one of the kids and and go somewhere else with them after an argument. The childless parent would call wanting us to go get the kid back. We do nothing about child custody without a court order unless the child is in obvious danger. We tell them to call their lawyer in a few days if the kid isn't back and usually do a welfare check on the kid just to be sure. Most are back the next day.

Most of the other calls were silly time wasters. You have to answer all of them though because you really don't know what is happening until you view it firsthand. Saturday night was mostly drunken Mexican night. I mentioned that in another post.

The family that fights together stays together. Danny came down here several years ago to get out from under some kind of court ordered psychiatric thing. He looks and acts wild. He's got a very large nappy looking gray Fro. He's been a problem ever since. He's a loud mouthed trouble maker that gets into fights everywhere he goes. They even threw him out of Walmart once. Danny spent most of the day trying to fix a wheel that fell off his car in Hattiesburg. He was unsuccessful so he called one of his few friends to come pick him and his wife and 20 year old daughter up. They decided to stop by one of the bars on the way back to Brooklyn. It's located just outside the gate to Camp Shelby so there are frequently soldiers in there. Danny was sitting by the front door when three black soldiers, a female and two males, came by for a beer. These folks are welcome here and there were never any racial problems until tonight. The lady was wearing a tube top and as they came in the front door Danny saw them and said "we don't need no niggers in here!" and pulled her top down exposing her breasts. They hurriedly backed out the door as the bar manager came over and told Danny and family to leave. The manager was wearing one of those outside the jaw braces that screws into her jaw from a fight she lost a couple of weeks ago. Danny and his daughter attacked her and they were immediately set on by about 20 bar patrons. Danny and daughter came in a bad second. Danny's old lady got punched a time or two also. All of them were thrown into the parking lot where they were when we pulled up. They were still getting spanked and when I saw who it was I took my time getting over there. We ran everybody else back into the bar and made Danny and family leave. The got into a Geo Tracker with five other people. It looked like a clown car. They went to another bar in Hattiesburg not bothering to change their torn clothes or washing off any blood. They were arrested there later that night for the same kind of stuff. I guess if you try hard enough anything can happen.

One of the other highlights of my weekend involved one of the meanest 12 year old girls I've ever dealt with. I'll call her Allie. She is a foul mouthed 100 lb redhead. Her mother is a 350 lb. registered sex offender who lives in a ratty trailer in a ratty trailer park with a little Mexican guy who is about 20 years younger than her. She calls constantly complaining about the stuff the little girl does. Sunday evening I was called by the girls aunt. Allie had broken into her trailer and stolen some cigarettes and a cell phone. She had also broken into several cars in the trailer park. I tried to contact the juvenile folks but couldn't find anyone. I can't touch a juvenile without permission from the court. I told Allie's mother to try and keep her home until Monday. I then told Mom to go back inside while I talked to Allie in the parking lot. I "explained the program" to her telling her what was going to happen to her if I had to come back out there. It was all I could do at the time. She was crying when she went back in her trailer. I contacted the Department of Human Services yesterday and don't know if they've done anything. The girl needs to be taken out of that place.

We spent the rest of Sunday night (it'supposed to be quiet) answering mostly domestic calls. As I started home at 0500 Monday morning I turned off my radio,cell phone, and pager.

Dog Tales

I assisted the local PD in a chase last night. The guy running was in an old Honda Accord. He actually cornered a little better than the Crowns until he lost control and hit some guide wires on a power pole. The car went about ten feet up the wires and when it slammed to the ground it busted both front tires. Chase over. The driver bailed and ran from the scene holding his saggys up with one hand. Even though he was pants impaired, we were doughnut impaired and he temporarily escaped. He left his cell phone behind and when it rang I answered it. It was some female and her first words were "Lorenzo,WTF?" I did my best impersonation and learned that he was on the way to meet her for some kind of "deal." She also told me his full name and some other stuff before she figured out who she was talking to. Her last words before hanging up were "Oh shit!"

We set up a perimeter and called for a tracking dog. The officer arrived with a huge German shepherd looking monster that I was sure was going to eat somebody and spit them out. As the dog got out of the back of the patrol car I noticed he seemed very happy to be there and was wearing one of those doggy happy faces. He had to do his business on several trees and the lawn of a church before he would even think about the project at hand. I didn't know that this particular dog was not an attack dog and was trained only to track and find dope until later, and neither did Lorenzo. The handler had the dog on a long leash and I walked a ways back as the dog picked up the track. In less than a minute I heard "I give up! I give up, please don't let that MoFo go!" Lorenzo came out from under the bush he was hiding in and joined the rest of us for a trip downtown. Oh yeah, he was running because you're not supposed to drive drunk when you're on parole.

The second half of this involves a dog of another sort. I was working in another part of the county so I got all of this second hand from Junior. Dr. E, who is not really a doctor, was working on his truck when his girl friend's son came walking up messed up on booze and pills. Dr. E's girlfriend is the grandmother of Dr. E's daughter who he fathered with her daughter. It's a long story but her son is not much younger than Dr. E. Anyway Anthony wanted to borrow his mother Florida's car and Dr. E told him to go away that the "last four times you borrowed cars while messed up you totaled them out." One of the wrecks cost Anthony a spleen. I think they left the steel in his legs.

Apparently Anthony didn't like being told what to do by his potential step father, who as I said before is not much older than him, so when Dr. E turned to work on his truck, Anthony "sucker punched" him. I talked to Dr. E about this and he said it surprised him but he was still able to grab Anthony and push him through a gate leading into his hunting dog pen. Dr. E said as he had Anthony on the ground and as he was "beating him into the dog shit" he noticed his jaw flopping around and blood dripping onto Anthony"s face. Dr. E then figured his jaw was broken and let Anthony go. Anthony ran down the road.

Dr' E's brother Randy heard the commotion and ran over to see what was going on. When Randy saw what had happened he took Dr. E's truck ( he doesn't have a ride) and went to his trailer across the road and got Hitler off his logging chain leash. Hitler is Randy's dog and has to be kept on a logging chain because he breaks everything else. Randy says he is a mix of Pit Bull, German Shepherd, and Chow. He ain't friendly. Randy and Hitler went looking for Anthony and found him about a mile down the road. As they pulled up beside Anthony Randy sicced Hitler on him. Hitler jumped out the window of the truck and immediately started having Anthony for lunch. Randy joined Hitler by kicking Anthony in the ribs and Hitler continued to bite him. This went on until The owner of the yard they were in came out with a shotgun. Randy got Hitler back in the truck and Anthony was last seen running down the road crying and bleeding. 911 didn't even blink during all of this. Nobody called the SO.

I just got off the night shift and when I got up I decided to go over an check on Dr. E. I found him sitting in his recliner drinking a beer. His jaw still hasn't been repaired. "I ain't got $7,000 to get it wired." He's going to some kind of charity hospital in Louisiana Monday. His girlfriend and her daughter (his former girlfriend) were there to comfort him. Nobody knows where Anthony is. Randy hasn't been out of his trailer since the incident and Hitler is back on his logging chain.

Repo Man

This is one part of my job that I really don't like. You don't pay for something and sooner or later somebody is going to come get it. The reasons for not paying don't matter. I had to go repo a housetrailer several days ago.

We got the order from the judge a month before the repo was set up. We went to the residence and told the owner of the trailer that if she couldn't make some kind of arrangements with the bank we were going to come get the trailer and she needed to move her stuff out. Her reply was "you ain't gonna take my trailer! We came back two weeks later and she told us the trailer wasn't going anywhere because she owed the man that owned the land rent and he was gonna get a lien and we couldn't take it. I explained to her there was already a lien and the property owner would have to pay the first one off before he could get his lien. "You still ain't gonna get my trailer.!"

We went back two days before the repo (replevin) and I told her again we were coming after it if she didn't do something. We then called the trailer mover and the power company and told them to meet us there in two days at 0730. We all got there at the same time and the owner had done nothing. She was cooking breakfast with her four grown daughters and nothing had been moved.

The banks or other financial institutions, contrary to popular belief, don't like repos anymore than the rest of us. They just want their stuff paid for. They always lose money on a repo.

The trailer was located in a rural area on land owned by one of the owners relatives. They had lived there for the last eight years and had always been late on payments even though they were able to catch up...until now. Nobody there had a job. All had late model cars. The appliances were better than mine. (we'll probably go get them next) I got a hint as to why the trailer note wasn't being paid. One of the neighbors told me a couple of the daughters were "whoring around" and doing a lot of dope and Momma had been going to the casinos trying to work her way out.

The owner finally understood what we had been trying to tell her for several weeks when the tow truck hooked up the trailer. She did the usual screaming and hollering and realized it wasn't going to do any good so they started unloading the trailer. She said our trips to the trailer were harressment. I just told her she should learn how to take advice and the trailer might still be hers. They got most of the stuff out by piling it into cars and trucks and throwing it in the yard. When the movers started moving the trailer around we had to get them out of it and told them they could get the rest of the stuff at the repo lot.

The occupants of the trailer then went out in the yard and started singing gospel songs and dancing and throwing their hands in the air. The trailer movers were removing skirting, attaching wheels, and digging up the deck while the power company was turning off the electricity. The occupants had a prayer meeting and sang and danced some more. Then the decided to curse at everyone involved in moving the trailer. We had to "explain the program" to them. (threaten arrest) They calmed down. After 35 minutes the driver of the moving truck popped the trailer out of the sewerage infested bog it sat in and took off down the road. One of the daughters broke a window with a brick as it went by.

It took a few more minutes for the mover to collect their gear. We stayed there until they were gone. We took some more verbal abuse and saw some more gospel singing and dancing and as the movers were leaving several boyfriends showed up wanting to get their clothes out of the trailer. We told everyone they had five days to go to the repo lot to get the rest of their stuff. I was glad to get out of there. As I drove off I saw one of their pit bulls eating the breakfast out of a skillet.

Didn't want to steal a thread.

This is partly in response to the “I Don’t Understand “ thread about cop bashing. The other part is what I’ve been doing this weekend on 12 hour shifts while my friends are at gun shows or fishing. If I didn’t like it I wouldn’t do it and may not be able to do it much longer. My knees and ankles aren’t what they used to be as a result of fights and car wrecks, Some were on duty.

Yesterday: I get up at 0330, leave at 0430 to make it to the “zone” by 0500. I read the reports and compared notes with the night shift guys before heading to Mom and Dad’s café for free coffee and breakfast that I pay for myself around 0530. On the way over there dispatch got a frantic lady caller that she could not understand. I told dispatch to patch her through to my cell phone. (the one I bought and pay monthly for so I can better handle the county’s business) I finally figured out what she was calling about. She was a widow who lived alone and there was a man in her back yard in his boxer shorts talking to her tree. Upon arrival we found him near the road not far from her house. He appeared to have been rolling in wet grass. Upon talking to him we learned that his mind was gone. He kept wanting to see Oprah. “Where is she?” I asked. “Down by the little creek.” He replied. We cuffed him as soon as we saw he was looney. We located his sister and she had been looking for him. We put him in the padded cell at the jail until we could get a commitment order. He kept asking for Oprah on the way downtown and then started singing something I couldn’t understand. I had never seen this guy before and didn’t know anything about him until I got to the booking desk. There I learned that he had done time for running over and killing a greeter at Walmart.

I answered a couple of false alarms and then I got a call from a FEMA investigator. He and some movers had gone to retrieve a FEMA trailer and was run off by an elderly woman with a handgun. The FEMA guy managed to get the gun away from her and called me from a gas station not far away. He told me her sister was there and said she had a sawed off shotgun and “ain’t nobody gonna get this trailer.” The old lady had called us a couple of weeks ago complaining that FEMA would not come get the trailer. I guess she changed her mind. FEMA guy gave me the gun and I unloaded it. It was loaded with Hydrashocks and there was one in the pipe. While talking to the FEMA guy the old lady called the SO and wanted to see a deputy. I had worried about how to approach her, but now she wanted to see me. I went to her place and learned that the trailer had been unoccupied for almost two years. “I don’t know why they left, I told them to take the damn thing and go.” I called FEMA guy and told him to come get his trailer. He asked if I would remain there until they left and I said I would. Granny and I drank coffee and watched Oprah until the trailer was gone. The sister seemed to have some sense so I gave her the unloaded gun and left. I got on the phone and called the court about a commitment order for the tree talker while going to the next call.

The next caller was very pregnant. She had hired an air conditioner repairman and thought he was trying to screw her over. I talked with her and found out she had hired the guy based on a recommendation of someone she had gotten out of jail. She had paid him upfront for materials and he had been to her house three times with the wrong stuff. He didn’t return as fast as she wished he had and she was scared he wasn’t going to come back. “You should never pay anybody upfront for services, you pay them after they have done a satisfactory job.” Call me back in a few days if he doesn’t show back up. Right now is too early.. I didn’t mention the jail recommendation as she had seen the look on my face when she told me that.

The baby had locked Mommy out of the car. The motor was hot and Mommy was frantic. I got the door unlocked before the kid got too hot and didn’t have to break any glass. Mommy was a babe and I got a hug. (eat your heart out Shugart) I keep lots of tools in my patrol car for helping folks out and one of them opens most cars.

Next up was a backup to another officer of two guys fighting over a pickup basketball game. The winner was gone and as we called an ambulance for the one who “came in second” I had to leave and go to another call.

An officer had seen a guy riding down the road with a pistol in his mouth and called for assistance. They had gotten him out of his truck and in custody before I got there. It seems his wife had taken him to the ER and he ran out of the hospital when he saw the hospital police coming. He jumped in his truck and when he saw the officer he put the gun in his mouth. His wife said he was suicidal. We had to start more commitment papers. It turns out that this guy is a cousin to the tree talker and their last name being the same caused some confusion. Looks like there will be a family reunion in the padded cell. The gun was unloaded but nobody knew until later.

Today: I had one false alarm early in the day and no calls for service until I sat down for lunch. Dispatch gave me a wreck call. Upon arrival I found that the wrecked truck had been occupied by a 48 year old female. She was unhurt even though the truck was totaled. She had owned it one week. I found that I had worked with her deceased husband several years ago. He was on the same department I was on and died of a heart attack playing basketball with some disadvantaged kids. He was 40 at the time. Her brother had also been a cop until his retirement. I was a little embarrassed at first because I didn’t recognize her. Her brother came and got her and I told them if they wanted to leave I would wait for the wrecker. It was hot and she really didn’t need to be there.

I managed to sneak by one of the local gun pushers in between calls. Leland had called and told me they had all guns marked down 15% and all accessories marked down 25%. They have good prices already. He had somehow found a series 80 Colt Commander NIB and jumped on it. They didn’t have anything like that by the time I got there so I bought a Kahr CW9 I had been wanting.

The fat lady from the trailer park who calls us several times a week called and wanted to see an officer. She said her daughter had gotten into a fight with her cousin. This woman irritates the crap out of me with her nonsense calls. I try to be polite when I tell her to leave us alone unless a crime had been committed. She’s the trailer park manager which means she’s the one on the riding mower wearing her halter top and exposing most of her tattoos and 350 lbs. She is also tooth impaired. She was also convicted or performing oral sex on two 12 year old boys a few years ago. I’m surprised Human Services lets her keep her three daughters.

I went to Jimmy’s house next. He was a special ed student about 40 years ago. He still can’t read or write. I had helped send him to the pen two of his four trips. He hasn’t been back since 1996. His mother was a former frequent flyer who had some how managed to celebrate her 75th birthday. Today Jimmy had gotten into a fight with his special ed son. The boy’s mother, who Jimmy had never married, wanted Jimmy gone. As I gave Jimmy a ride to his mother’s he told me he was mad because his son was sleeping with the knockout 30 year old divorcee who lives next door. Must not be too stupid. The divorcee had once told me she had two personalities. I asked her which one I was talking to and she seemed annoyed. I was investigating a burglary at the time. She later called me and told me she had found her stuff. I guess her other personality had taken it.

I had one more call before I got off. I had to run some four wheelers out of the road. I then went home and shot 100 rounds through the Kahr. I like this little light weight gun, especially since I can’t ever find my KelTec. Jr. always seems to know where it is though. I made it through the last two days without beating anybody up or violating anyone’s rights that I know of. I was rude to only one person and she needed it. One of my friends is an investigator in an adjoining county. They found a hand sticking out of a shallow grave at 0100 this morning. www.hattiesburgamerican.com. Will probably have something on it in the morning. I think they have already made an arrest.

Turkey Plowed Up The Road, Will Sandra Ever See Pee Wee Again?

Monday night was very quiet. It was a much needed rest. Last night was different. It started with several fight calls in the hood. The neighborhood is crawling with teenagers, mostly raised by grandparents, and their main entertainment is fighting and fussing with each other. We broke up a couple of those. Nobody got hurt this time.

I went on a medical call with the local ambulance company. Tommy was having trouble breathing. After a little hunting I found the trailer where the call was. It was down the end of a muddy lane (we actually got a little rain today) hidden by some trees and junk. There were dogs chained to the trees and a dirty little kid was manning the gate to let us in to keep the goats from getting out. I immediately recognized what was left of Tommy. 35 years ago he had been a bad dude. Drinking,fighting,stealing and going to prison were just some of his hobbies. There's not much left of him now. He's younger than me (60) and looked like a skeleton. He was hooked up to a bunch of tubes and an oxygen bottle. Apparently somewhere along the line he fathered a daughter. She met me at the door. It was her trailer. Tommy recognized me and asked if I remembered busting him for burglarizing a liquor store back in the early 70's. I told him I did and that the owner gave me one of the bottles of evidence after the trial. He laughed and started coughing real bad as I was getting out of the way for the paramedics. His mileage is running out.

Turkey bought some property a few years ago that came with an easement so the three property owners near the river could get to their property. He put an old trailer in there and added on to it with some rough cut sawmill wood. He has been giving the property owners hell ever since he's been there. He thinks because he didn't give them the easement that they're trespassing every time they cross his property. I've seen the deed to Turkey's land and the easement is very easy to understand...exept for Turkey. This place started out as a developement on a really pretty river. The developers went under years ago and the private roads in there haven't been maintained since. Some of the mudholes are so large they have fish and frogs in them. I don't like getting calls there because my next stop is to get my car washed. Last week one of the neighbors called because Turkey had pulled down one of their power poles and took it to his trailer. Charges are pending on the pole theft. Turkey doesn't like LEO's and wouldn't call one if his family had been killed. He doesn't like anyone else to call a LEO either. His response was to take a big old tractor and a large breaking plow and plow up the road leading to the river. It's gonna be hard to get out to go to work this morning. All of this happened on private property so the landowners are going to have to take Turkey back to the court that granted the easement. They will probably find him in contempt of a court order. A law suit will most likely be next. Maybe the judge will award them Turkey's property for damages and we can evict him.

Sandra lives with her boyfriend Pee Wee's family in a large old wood frame house on a dirt road in an isolated area. Lot's of folks stay there so there is the usual collection of junk cars, dogs, and dirty children. Apparently Sandra got a little frisky tonight. Pee Wee must not have been interested because instead of a love fest it turned into a fight with Pee Wee running down the road trying to get away from Sandra. We found Sandra about a half mile from the house. We didn't find Pee Wee. She's a big girl and for a six foot woman I guess she carries her 350 lb.+ weight well. Except tonight. She was wearing a black see-through negligee that you don't want to see through. Her light complexion contrasted with the black negligee and the huge amounts of flesh were blinding. She was also very drunk and I was very thankful when one of Pee Wee's relatives loaded her in a truck and took her back home.

Zach and his brother Ryan had been having a good time. That is until Zach tried to straighten out a curve in a heavy fog. The Taurus went sideways, down an embankment and smashed into an oak tree. The tree was about halfway in the car and Zach was trapped and Ryan ran and hid. It took an hour to get Zach out and while we were getting him out Ryan walked up and said he was hurt. He was wearing one shoe and his whole head was beginning to swell. We loaded him in the ambulance that was there and called another for Zach. The car was full of beer and apparently they were also. I had blood drawn at the ER in case Zach lives. He had a collapsed lung and internal injuries. Zach is 20 and Ryan is 16.

Dress For Success.

I was scanning the PD channel while working a drunken rollover. I was 20 miles from town and took no part in either case but I was amused at what I heard. While my guy was telling me that he "almost never" drank while running a .25 on the portabable intoxilyzer and the wrecker was hooking up to his girlfriend's overturned truck that he was driving I heard the local PD dispatch two calls at the same time.

One was an armed robbery in which the perp had a large tatoo on his neck of a marijuana plant. If that wasn't bad enough, he was driving a Chevrolet Caprice with a light blue hood and the rest of the body of the car was primer gray except for the left rear door and quarterpanel which were painted maroon. He was found a local fastfood chicken place about 30 minutes later buying fried chicken with some of the proceeds of the robbery.

The other dispatch involved four black males who did a home invasion on some Mexicans. The description (with the assistance of an interpreter) was four black males in an old green pickup. Two of the perps were wearing orange t-shirts. They were blue lighted near the river and bailed out leaving the truck in the road. The two orange shirt guys were taken into custody within five minutes after running from the truck. Even a swamp won't hide hunter orange. Another was found a few minutes later. The one still at large owns the truck.

I was still laughing at what I was hearing when the rollover guy's GF came up and asked me if I was going to look for the guy that ran him off the road. "Where did you hear that?" "Rollover told me that on the cell phone before you got here." I told her that Rollover was three times the legal limit and that I didn't think he would make a credible witness therefore I wasn't going to look for anything. I did wish her a happy Friday the 13th.

Showdown at Eartha's Place

It happened at 1:00 a.m. this morning. Eartha's Place is a Jim Walter home turned into a dive in a rural black area of the county known as the Sheeplo Community. The name goes back over 100 years when most of the residents of the area were sheep farmers. Eartha's isn't open every night. She chooses when she wants to open and word gets out and the place is immediately packed.

Physical evidence shows that one of the gunfighters was standing in front of the place as he emptied his 9mm and the other was on the road in front of the place as he emptied his 9mm. Apparently he was running toward his Caprice as his shell casings were about 20 feet apart from where he had been standing to where the tire marks were as he left in a hurry.

Neither of the gunfighters hit each other even though two rounds passed through the crowded bar without hitting anyone. One person was shot in the leg because he "just had to step outside and stick his nosy ass in somebody else's business." This statement was from his GF.

When we arrived there were only two cars still at the place even though there had been dozens when I drove by there earlier. One of them belonged to the owner of the dive. The few people who were still there saw absolutely nothing and heard even less. TJ is one of our deputies. He is 6'8' tall, played pro basketball for several years, and the ladies love him. He's a sharp looking guy. After an hour or so one of the "ladies" called him and gave him the details and the names. We passed the info on to the day crew and if they don't find them it will give us something to do when we come back on tonight. There was some other stuff but I need sleep.

Job Security

We've had plenty of it lately. As I pulled in my driveway yesterday morning I heard dispatch give out a robbery call. Latoria had taken Eulis to the gambling boat. She had taken $1,000 with her and won two grand and had $3,000 on her when she got home. Eulis told her where to take him when they got back and as he was getting out of the car he told Latoria he had something he wanted to give her. He went in the house and came back with an AK 47, pointed it at her, and said "Give me the money bitch!" I turned the walkie talkie on and listened while I checked out the computer. They found the AK but Eulis apparently was on the way to Chicago.

Latoria was scared to stay in her trailer after the robbery and didn't come home until 6:00 p.m. When she got there she found the front door open. Eulis or somebody else had apparently gone in looking for more money. Dispatch sent me out to talk to her. I found muddy tennis shoe tracks going in and out of the trailer. Nothing had been disturbed and nothing taken. There was no forced entry so they must have used a key or carded the door. There was nothing to print so after taking some pictures I told Latoria to come in and began taking notes for a report.

While taking the report dispatch told us of an armed robbery that had just taken place in Perry County. The Leaf River Deli and Gas had been robbed by four men in a white Caprice. The store is located about three miles from Forrest County and the suspect vehicle was headed toward us. A witness had gotten a tag number. I was listening to the dispatch as they read back the info on the tag. Latoria said "Oh my God, that's my cousin, what's going on !?" I asked her where he lived and the adress was the same as the tag.

Other officers from both counties were coming into the area. We got together and went to the address. The car had just left there. We split up looking for the car. It wasn't hard to spot. It was a white Caprice and it had a personalized tag with the owner's first initial and last name. As I was getting details on the robbery and the occupants the car passed me on a hill going in the opposite direction. As I turned around the driver "punched" the accelerator and a large blue-gray cloud of smoke blew out the back of the car. He was going to try to outrun me but knew the old car couldn't do it. He pulled over and got out of the car with his hands on top of his head. I stayed behind my car and told him to walk to me. Backup was about three minutes away. I told him to keep his hands where they were and to come to me. His first words were "I don't know nothin about no armed robbery!" "Uh, OK."

I cuffed him and put him in the cage. He was the only guy in the car at the time. Other officers got there and we searched the car. We found a ski masked believed to have been used in the robbery but no guns. One was later found on the side of the road not far from the scene of the robbery. We started getting calls from people who didn't want to be identified. Apparently these guys had been terrorizing their neighbors for the last few weeks and they wanted them caught and out of there. Two of the guys we were looking for were involved in a shooting incident at Eartha's Drive In a few nights ago. The other guy was just a local drunk. He was the one that stole a case of beer during the robbery.

I talked to the Perry County Sheriff and learned that the robbery went something like this: The four of them pulled up in the Caprice. The guy I caught stayed in the Caprice and the drunk and the "cowboys" went in the store. One of the cowboys shot the telephone while the other got the money out of the register. The drunk got the beer. As they came outside to leave the witness, a young mother with a toddler pulled up. She's the one who got the tag number. The cowboys saw her and started shooting their guns in the air. The drunk was drinking a can of beer coming out the door. They then left at a high rate of speed coming toward our county.

After catching the driver we got the names of the others involved. About four hours into a manhunt we found the drunk. Very drunk. In the middle of all this I had to pull off and go catch another call. Clovis had gotten drunk and gotten into an argument with his daddy and one of his brothers. He still lives with his mother and father with two other grown brothers. None of them work. Clovis does what he always does when he gets stupid and that's go out in the yard and shoot his shotgun up in the air. The call was about ten miles away from where we were. When I got there Clovis was gone. His mother told me was in a 1980 Isuzu car and it would be easy to spot because his headlights quit working and he mounted some on the roof. "I'm scared he's gonna do something stupid." I told her "he already did." His dad asked me what he could do about the shotgun. "Does he ever sleep?" was my reply. While talking with Clovis's mother and father his aunt called and said he just drove through her field. Deputy David had just gotten here and he and I went to the aunt's trailer. I found Clovis's car half hidden behind a pine tree. I lit the car up with the spotlight and Clovis jumped out of the car and started running across the field. All he had on was a cut off pair of blue jeans and as he looked back at the spotlight he ran into a four strand barbed wire fence. It looked like he ran into a trampoline when he bounced off that fence. He had cuts starting at his shoulders spaced about a foot apart going to his knees. He was bleeding pretty bad from the cuts so we called an ambulance. We couldn't find the shotgun. Deputy David stayed with him until the ambulance got there and I went back to the manhunt.

On the way back to the manhunt we got a call that Mary Beth and George (a match made in heaven) were throwing dishes at each other. They fight frequently and were 20 miles from where I was. I was scared I was going to get the call but one of our off duty deputies was just getting off a detail and said he catch the call on the way home. I didn't hear anymore about that. They're still out on bond for another domestic violence charge.

The cowboys were in some pretty thick woods. We hadn't found them when I got off and turned the manhunt over to the oncomming shift. Just before I got off I learned that Larry was shot and killed yesterday. (www.hattiesburgamerican.com.) He was one of the cooks at the local IHOP. We eat breakfast there on Sunday mornings when we're on the day shift. I hope they can find somebody who can cook a good egg sandwich before we change shifts.

Bob Puts His Clothes Back On, Preacher Joe Carl Spills His Guts.

Bob has been acting kind of strange lately. He's been taking his clothes off in unusual places, such as Walmart and a family dinner, and he's been threatening to kill himself and his wife. Thursday night he threatened to kill his wife with a knife and held it to his own throat threatening to kill himself if she called us. Bob is also deaf.

Bob's wife came to court this morning to file for a lunacy hearing. The hearing was granted and Deputy David and I were given the court order to go pick Bob up and put him in the padded room. As we reached Bob's trailer I received a weather page for a severe thunder storm. We got in the trailer just before all Hell broke loose weather-wise. Bob's wife "signed" Bob telling him why we were there. She also told him to put his clothes on. Bob has apparently had enough special training to be able to call his wife "bitch." We cuffed Bob and tried to wait out the downpore so no one would get wet going to the car. Bob wanted me to take the cuffs off so he could go to the bathroom. No way. He told us he wasn't going anywhere and once I got him cuffed they weren't coming off. Bob could speak where we could understand him and could read lips if we talked slow.

I got Bob's wife to help him in the bathroom while I stood where I could see them. He must have been upset because he threw up for about 15 minutes. I wanted him to finish tis before he got in my car. The deep freezer is in the bathroom. It looked like it had come from the factory in camo. I've never seen one before. The rain was very heavy and lightening knocked out the power to the trailer. Bob finally came out of the bathroom and began to get upset even more. I was hoping the rain would let up enough to get to the car. It didn't. Rather than let Bob get more upset we rushed him to the car in the mud, rain, and lightening. He settled down once he got in the car and the ride to the evaluation center was pretty much uneventful.

I had time to eat a couple of gut grenades before the next call. It was out on Possum Trail. Possum Trail is a dead end road with a collection of run down houses and trailers, junk cars, pit bulls, beer cans and other trash. Most of the people on the road are kin. Some more than once. Preacher Joe Carl lives here. I don't think he's really a preacher but the neighbors and other kinfolk call him that because he is constantly preaching and quoting Bible verses to anybody who will stop long enough to listen.

The caller identified himself as Ray Dean. He told dispatch he "might" have cut somebody and that they were at 46 Possum Trail. I went to check it out and found Preacher Joe Carl sitting in a chair on his front porch holding his stomach with both hands. It was dark because the power was out in the cinderblock house where Joe Carl lived. I got to talk to him briefly before the paramedics starting working on him and he told me he and his nephew Ray Dean and gotten into an "argument" because Ray Dean had thrown his Bible into a mud hole. He said Ray Dean cut him during the argument. The paramedics and then the surgeons took him away from me so the investigators will have to finish talking to him.

Preacher Joe Carl should be glad he sat down in the chair after he got cut. He is a big fat guy and the paramedic told me the layers of fat on his belly actually sealed off the wound and kept him from bleeding to death. He said if he had moved around much more all of his insides would have been outside. They got the preacher loaded up in the ambulance and we went down the road to where ray Dean was waiting for us.

Ray Dean and Frankie (a girl) were standing in front of the trailer waiting for us. The first thing I saw was a dagger stuck in a wooden picnic table. I asked Ray Dean if the dagger was what the preacher was cut with and he said it was. I put it in an evidence bag and put it in the trunk of my car. I then asked Ray Dean what happened. He said he had moved in with his uncle Preacher Joe Carl a couple of weeks ago until he could get back on his feet. Ray Dean said he was real tired from job hunting all day and he laid down in a back bedroom. He said when he woke up Preacher Joe Carl was on top of him beating him with a flashlight accusing him of throwing his Bible in the mud. He said he "instinctively" grabbed the knife by his bed and "thought" he cut his uncle. He said Preacher Joe Carl then hit him with a 2X4, stuck him with a pitchfork, and ran him out of the house with an ax. "Praise The Lord!" Some of this may be true because Ray Dean had a variety of minor injuries. Joe Carl is in ICU. Ray Dean is in jail. I'm going to bed.

